2002

George Weinstein v. Ronald Popiel and Jamie Popiel : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction by virtue of this appeal being transferred from the Supreme Court. Utah Code, 1953, Title 78, Sec. 78-2a-3(2)(j)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Did the district court err:

- I. (a) In initially declining to grant the appellant's cross-motion for summary judgment on the undisputed facts?
- (b) In interposing an implied covenant of "good faith and fair dealing"?
- (c) In rewriting the contract to contain a term that permission cannot

be “unreasonably” withheld?

II. (a) In failing to grant a mandatory injunction as the only adequate remedy for the continuing nuisance?

(b) In denying relief for a lack of perceived damages?

III. Assuming arguendo, damages were appropriate, in awarding nominal damages without giving appellant the opportunity to introduce evidence of actual damages?

IV. In failing to direct reimbursement of appellant’s legal fees and expenses?

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The standard of review for motions for summary judgment, whereby the court views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, would be applicable to both parties as each cross-moved for such relief and the district court found in part for each. As both represented to the court no triable material issues of fact existed, no inference or favoritism should be granted either.

The issue being one of law, the relevant language of the contract not being ambiguous, this court reviews it for correctness, giving the trial courts construction and findings no particular weight or deference. *Cooper State Leasing v. Blacker*

770 P.2d 88 (Utah 1989); Nielsen V. Neilsen 780 P.2d 1264 (Utah 1989);Holladay Duplex v. Howells 47 P.3d 104 (UT App. 2002).

Had the district court applied controlling law and found for the appellant, its failure to award attorney's fees is to be reviewed on the standard of an abuse of discretion.

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is an appeal from a decision of the District Court, on cross-motions for summary judgment. The issues involve enforcement of the Covenants, Conditions & Restrictions (CC&Rs) of a community in which both parties reside on adjoining lots. The controlling CC&R regarding "FENCES" requires the prior permission of all adjoining property owners, of which the appellant is one. Appellees erected a fence, on the common property lines, without the requisite consent. This action was brought to enforce the applicable CC&R, requesting abatement of the nuisance by the removal of the fence. The district court found in the alternative for each party but essentially denied appellant injunctive relief or actual damages.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Subsequent to the appellant's submission of the original memorandum in opposition to appellees' motion for summary judgment and in support of his cross-motion, with typographical errors (R. 123-126), appellant submitted a corrected set of papers, essentially the same (R. 180-221). In this brief, all references will be made to the corrected second set.

Each party expressly stated there are no material facts that are in dispute.

These facts are:

Appellant, appellees, and the Martins were contiguous neighbors in the residential community of Ranch Place, Utah (R.2, 178). Ranch Place adopted and filed CC&Rs, one of which governs “Fencing” (Sec. 7.5) (R.2). The final sentence of said section makes permission from adjacent owners, prior to the installation of a fence along common lot lines, mandatory (R.182).

The appellees met the first requirement by obtaining approval of the fence design from the Architectural Committee of the HOA (R.95). Appellees failed to comply with the second requirement, viz.; they did not obtain permission from two of four adjacent lot owners, both of whom objected to the fence as built (R.2, 178-179,181,183).

Appellees not only had constructive notice of the CC&Rs (R.185), but had actual knowledge that consent of adjoining neighbors was required, prior to installing their fence (R.186-187, 256,257).

In appellant’s four day absence and without prior notice (R.168 para. 6, 174), appellees erected a 300 ft. long, 3 tier log fence, over four feet high, completely sided with wire mesh, enclosing a rear area of approximately 7700 sq. ft. (R. 4, 168, 183). The fence virtually closed off the remaining open side of appellant’s triangular rear yard, (R.169).

There are no fences at any other homes on appellant's street or in the vicinity of appellees' home (R. 170). The fence is much less than fifty feet from appellant's dwelling (R. 168). Allegation 22 of the complaint, that the fence was erected and existed in violation of the CC&Rs (R. 4) was admitted in paragraph 1 of appellees' Answer (R. 13).

The permission requirement is not ambiguous and is unconditional (R. 185). It was never waived (R.189). The requirement of permission from adjoining neighbors is presently being expressly set forth in all design approvals of the Architectural Committee (R.192, 212).

Regarding other existing fences further away in Ranch Place, it has to be concluded that they were erected with permission of adjacent neighbors, as no objections to them were made (R.188). The testimony of the vice president of the HOA (now president), Mr. Johnson, was that he knew of only one incident in the community where a fence was erected without seeking the permission of the adjoining owners (R.257 para. 15, 112-113), and no one objected thereto.

Appellees, after the fact, in an attempt to excuse their violation, invoked a "Variance" procedure. Such procedure was inapplicable as it is expressly limited to issues of "design", CC&R 3.3 (R.183), which issue was not present (R.186, Decision R.283). Appellant also noted additional legal objections fatal to such "Variance" meeting, (R.192-193, 254-255,259). These were filed with the HOA

counsel prior to the meeting (R. 214-215). At the “Variance” meeting 64 members voted in favor of the variance. No one voted in opposition, as urged by the appellant, in protest to the illegitimate meeting, although appellant, Martin, and many others were present. Neighbors also knew no vote at all, amounted to a vote against, as appellees had the burden of getting sufficient votes (R. 254).

Even if the procedure were available, there are 228 lot owners in Ranch Place and a vote of 64 in favor out of a membership of 228 (R.183, 253-254) did not achieve the required majority of 115 (R.191, 254).

Additionally, appellees violated the maximum height provisions set forth in Sec. 7.5 (R.185, 95). Every one of the 43 fence posts exceeds four feet (R.265).

A violation of the CC&Rs is expressly deemed a nuisance and subject to abatement by any other owner. (CC&R 10.1 (R.189).

DISTRICT COURT DECISION

The court essentially made three distinct rulings. First, the court found in favor of the appellees based on its evaluation of the reasonableness of the appellant’s objection. It stated it may have ruled for appellant had it found the reasons for appellant’s aesthetic objections were more to its liking. Second, it held the permission requirement was not a “design” element, which would be subject to the variance procedure. Without any evidence in the record as to the actual measurements of any other fences, appellees represented six (of the 228 home sites

in Ranch Place) were over four feet (R.251 para. 3). Based on this, the district court concluded there was a waiver by the HOA and a majority of its members of the height restriction.

In its third and final ruling, the district court found in the alternative, that if its first two theories upon which it based its opinion were incorrect, appellant was entitled to damages of one dollar. It denied counsel fees.

Significantly, the lower court (Decision R.282-284) did make the following findings:

- A. Few **properties** in the parties' immediate neighborhood are fenced.
- B. It acknowledged appellant's claim "...he would never have bought his property if he believed his neighbors could erect an adjoining fence over his objection." (R. 283). [The Court failed to note that **appellant and his architect** also relied on the fact that the rear yard could not be fenced off without his permission, in deciding the type of house he would build (a rambler) and its location on the lot (R.169)].
- C. Appellant had no notice of the construction of the fence until after it was completed.

COMMENTS ON DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION

The appellees' application for the fence stated it was to contain their newly-acquired puppy (R.94). Besides their initial **application**, on several other occasions

thereafter (R.83, 194-195, 230) appellees gave as their reason for the installation of the fence, the protection of their newly acquired puppy. Their statement that appellant wanted to use the appellees' property to exercise his dog was only belatedly asserted by the appellees after appellant objected to their fence. This accusation was denied by appellant (R.194). In any event, such subjective excuse was not a reason to violate the CC&Rs, as a matter of law. Appellees claimed motivation for the fence is no more relevant than appellant's or the Martins subjective reason for objecting to it.

If indeed there was any merit to appellees' contention that appellant's dog trespassed on their rear lawn, they had other more appropriate remedies available to them, both civil and criminal, none of which were pursued, i.e., action for declaratory judgment, nuisance, injunction, trespass, etc. It is not justification, as a matter of law, to violate the CC&Rs.

The court created issues where none existed and then made findings thereof to try and justify its desired resolution, ignored non-disputed facts, and speculated as to the result of situations that might occur in the future. It ignored that a person's home being unique, monetary damages were not adequate and on its own determined, there was no diminution in value of appellant's real estate, without any evidence before it or the opportunity given to the appellant to introduce such evidence.

The court conjectured about the applicability of proxies. There never were any proxies although appellees labeled them as such. They were more like petitions obtained by appellees ringing doorbells throughout the neighborhood, pitching their cause, without opportunity of appellant to be present or respond, and asking residents to sign a paper long before a “Variance” meeting was ever called, or notice of the meeting sent out with the issue to be voted upon defined (R.214(8)). The record is devoid of any statement that proxies were counted, their tally ever announced and by what vote it favored one party or the other. Further, the “Variance” vote could only count those present. Unlike other sections of the CC&Rs, voting by proxy was not authorized (R.190-191, 254 para. 9).

The district court’s subsequent statement that it would not be unreasonable to withhold permission for valid aesthetic reasons or when the enjoyment of one’s property is impaired by the installation of the fence, ignored appellant’s claim and the Martins’ affidavit (R.179 para. 10). The district court necessarily and erroneously found that the closing in of appellant’s relatively small triangular rear yard (R.169) with a 7,700 square foot pen close to his home and deck, was not an interference with his enjoyment and value of his property, as a matter of law.

The finding of “a dispute” as to whether the Martins gave permission is inexplicable as appellees acknowledged they never sought nor obtained the Martins’ permission and the Martins’ affidavit expressly states they did not (R.179,

para. 7). The district court questioned the reasonableness of appellant's failure to give permission but never addressed the reasonableness of the Martins' objection.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A controlling CC&R in the community where appellant and appellees reside was knowingly violated by appellees. The district court, interjecting an implied condition of "fair dealings and good faith", accepted a disputed subjective excuse for the violation. Such implied condition is inapplicable to the case at bar.

Although conflicting conclusions in a decision are abhorrent to the law, in the alternative the court found that the appellant may have been entitled to a summary judgment but erred in failing to grant injunctive relief to remedy the continuing nuisance.

ARGUMENT

Point I A

THE DISTRICT COURT, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, PROPERLY GRANTED APPELLANT SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Restricting covenants constitute a binding and enforceable contract (Brighton v. Ward 31 P.3d 594 (Utah 2002)) (Decision R.283).

If the restricting covenant is not ambiguous, the court's duty is only to make application thereof to the evidence:

Holladay Duplex v. Howells 2002 UT App. 125, 47 P.3d 104

Swenson v. Erickson 2000 UT 16, 998 P.2d 807

Freeman v. Gee 18 UT 2d. 339, 351, 423 P.2d 155

Hayes v. Gibbs 110 UT 54, 169 P.2d 781 (1946)

“Generally, unambiguous restrictive covenants should be enforced as written...” Swenson, (supra, para. 11)... “It is [this] court’s duty to enforce the intentions of the parties as expressed in the plain language of the covenants, See Freeman v. Gee (citation)” supra, para. 19.... “Property owners who purchase land in such developments have a right to enforce such covenants against other owners who violate them.” (See Crimmins v. Simonds 636 P. 2d 478, 479 (Utah Sup 1981)

“Where a purchaser has notice of the restriction . . .he is chargeable with knowledge of the purpose for which the restriction was made.” 66 CJ 1128, Sec. 962. Adopted in Utah in Hayes v. Gibbs (supra, 784).

“Persons who own property in a neighborhood subject to restrictive covenants are entitled to rely on the covenants according to their terms, even if some of the neighbors no longer desire their enforcement.” Crimmins v. Simonds (supra, 481). See also Swenson v. Erickson (supra)

There is no issue that appellees constructed a substantial perimeter fence without the requisite permission after constructive and actual knowledge of its controlling CC&R 7.5 requirement (R.186-187, 256-257).

Point I B

**THE PRINCIPLE OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING WAS
MISAPPLIED.**

The district court erroneously interjected a theory of an implied covenant of “good faith and fair dealing”. Under the facts of the case at bar, such principle is inapplicable. It is foreign to the fundamental law of contracts that their terms can be rewritten under the guise of applying such theory. This principle is summed up on Corpus Juris at 17A CJS Sec. 346, pages 378-9 as follows.

“...where a contract is clear and seemingly complete, the courts will not and cannot revise, extend, or enlarge it by implication...Furthermore, the covenant of good faith and fair dealing cannot be used to imply an obligation which would completely obliterate a right expressly provided by the written contract; stated otherwise, the obligation of good faith and fair dealing cannot be constructed so broadly as to effectively nullify other express terms of the contract. Accordingly, the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing does not impose any duty that is contrary to the express terms of the contract. A term which the parties have not expressed is not to be implied merely because the court thinks it is a reasonable term, or because the contract is advantageous to one party and unjust to the other; and a person may not be required to do what he did not promise, merely because what he did promise was not sufficient to meet the requirements of some real or supposed public policy.”

Where there are no express covenants or promises in a contract, compelling a party to act in a particular manner, “...there can be no implied covenants or promises to do the same.” *Seare v. University of Utah* 882 P. 2d 673 (1994). See: *Olympus Hills Shopping Center v. Smith’s Food* 889 P.2d 445 (Utah 1994).

A court, by interposing theories of implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing in a contract, has the potential of distorting well established principles of contract law, which are not sustainable. *Berube v. Fashion Center* 771 P.2d 1033 (Sup. Utah 1989), relating to termination of employment; *Beck v. Farmers Insurance Exchange* 701 P.2d 795 (Sup. Utah 1985), relating to insurer's duty to settle claims.

In *Cunningham v. Cunningham* 690 P.2d 549 (Sup. Utah 1984), relating to a contract for real property in Ogden, the Court held:

“...the court's equity powers do not permit it to fashion a remedy without reference to the terms of the underlying transaction....”

Although we sympathize with the trial judge's effort to do equity, that effort must fail for several reasons...

A court does not have *carte blanche* to reform any transaction to include terms that it believes are fair. Its discretion is narrowly bounded. Reformation may be appropriate where both parties were mistaken as to a term of the contract, or where one party is mistaken and the other party is guilty of inequitable conduct...”

The covenant of good faith does not “...establish new independent rights or duties not agreed upon by the parties, nor may the covenant be used to nullify a right granted by a contract to one of the parties, *Brihany* 812 P.2d at 55.”

(Referring to *Brihany v. Nordstrom* 812 P.2d 49 Sup. Utah 1991) *Wood v. Utah Farm Bureau* 19 P.3d 392 (Ct. of App. 2001); See also *Rio Algom Corp. v. Jimco*

Ltd., 618 P.2d 497 (Sup. Utah 1980); Malibu Investment v. Sparks 2000 Utah 30, 996 P.2d 1043; Howe v. Professional Maninvest, 829 P.2d 160,163 (Utah 1992).

Express covenants relating to a specific contract right exclude the possibility of an implied covenant of a different or contradictory nature, Ted R. Brown v. Carnes 753 P.2d 964. (Utah Ct. of App. 1988)

In order to find bad faith and unfair dealings in a contractual relationship, there must be circumstances to establish that one party did something substantial to prevent the other party from performing its obligations (Zions Properties, Inc. v. Holt 538 P.2d 1319 (Utah Sup. 1975). As a matter of law, appellant cannot be held to have prevented appellees from obtaining the requisite permission that was never even requested of him or the Martins. Had the appellees made such a request, there was a likelihood that something could have been worked out.

It appears the district court strained to apply the theory of good faith and fair dealing to try and arrive at what it perceived to be the popular position reflected in the abortive variance vote. This was the result of false publicity and door-to-door personal canvassing by appellees around the neighborhood, which depicted appellant as the villain for his reliance upon the CC&Rs. This influenced many residents of the neighborhood, the great majority of whom were unaffected by the fence.

On the subject of interpretation of language as creating conditions or

promises, the following is stated in Williston on Contracts, Fourth edition, Sec. 38:13, pg 427.

“...However, an **interpretation** cannot be employed as a means of reducing the risk of forfeiture under a **contract** if the occurrence of the event as a condition is expressed in unmistakable language. The parties are entitled to the benefit of their bargain, and the mere fact it turns out to have been a bad bargain for one of the parties does not justify, through artful interpretation, changing the clear meaning of the parties’ words.”

The district court’s decision makes no reference to any breach by appellant of any specific contractual obligation. It cannot be said appellant did anything or failed to do anything regarding the fence except fail to give his permission for its installation along the remaining open side of his triangular rear **property line**, the other side already having been previously obstructed by a raised thick berm of trees and plantings (R.169). As a matter of law, withholding consent under such circumstances, which appellant had the legal right to do, did not amount to unfair dealings or lack of good faith.

“ A duty of good faith does not mean that a party vested with a clear right is obligated to exercise that right to its own detriment for the purpose of benefiting another party to the contract. A court will not enforce asserted rights that are not supported by the contract itself (citation)” Rio Algom Corp. v. Jimco Ltd., 618 P.2d 497, 505 (Sup. Ct. Utah 1980)

Utah’s position is in keeping with the majority of jurisdictions, which decline to find a breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing absent a breach of an express term of a contract. Burger King v. Weaver 169 F.3d

1310, 11th Circuit 1999, applying Florida law, (Cert. dismissed), 528 U.S. 948; Griffith v. Levi Straus 85 F.3d 185, 5th Circuit 1996 (applying Texas law); Amoco Oil v. Ervin 908 P.2d 493 (Colorado 1995). The duty of the Court is to declare the meaning of what is written in the instrument and not what it feels the language should have been. It is settled law when, without fraud or mistake, the written contract expresses the obligations of the parties. Such writing is not only the best but the only evidence of their agreement. Hicks v. Mid-Kansas Oil & Gas Co. 182 Oklahoma 61, 76 P.2d 269 (Sup. 1938); Shiver v. Liberty Building-Loan Assn. 16 Cal 2d 296, 106 P.2d 4 (Sup. 1940).

It cannot be questioned that appellant was given the right to withhold his consent. Appellant had no contractual obligation to do or perform anything regarding the appellees' fence other than approve or disapprove it, if and when he was asked to give permission.

“We will not interpret the covenant of good faith and fair dealing to make a better contract for the parties than they made for themselves, Rio Algom v Jimco (supra)...” Brown v. Moore 973 P.2d 950 (Sup. Utah 1998)

See also U. S. Pipe and Foundry v. American Arbitration Association, 67 N.J. (Sup. Ct. 384, 170 A.2d 505 (New Jersey 1961)

Point I C

**THE DISTRICT COURT IMPERMISSIBLY REWROTE
THE TERMS OF THE CONTRACT**

Based upon its erroneous conclusion that the covenant of good faith and fair dealing is applicable, the court leapfrogged to reword the contract between the parties. After the term, "...permission for the fencing shall be obtained from the adjacent Owner prior to installation", it altered the clear language by in effect adding, "Such permission cannot be unreasonably withheld."

No wording or provisions of the CC&Rs allow an exception to the requirement of an adjoining neighbor's consent. The court cannot rewrite the unambiguous contract between the parties to condition the times when permission can be withheld and when it cannot. An example of this is when the district court engaged in evaluating the extent of aesthetic interference and the reasonableness of appellant's objection.

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