2002

George Weinstein v. Ronald Popiel & Jamie Popiel : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Weinstein states in his summary of his argument that the district court interjected an implied condition of fair dealings and good faith and accepted a disputed subjective excuse and argues that such actions were improper. Mr. Weinstein's arguments are incorrect and lack legal foundation.

He cannot have it both ways. On the one hand he would like to argue that the CC&Rs constitute an absolute, unambiguous contract between the parties, which the court must enforce with strict rigidity. On the other hand, if one accepts that the court must consider the CC&Rs to be a contract, then one cannot disregard the well established application of the mandatory implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, which adheres to all contracts in the State of Utah. The trial court did not "interject" anything improperly and is not rewriting the terms of the contract, as neighbor Weinstein repeatedly complains.

The property owners stand firmly behind the long line of precedent in this jurisdiction, which abhors discretionary capriciousness and looks to the common good and purpose, course of dealings and conduct of the parties and reasonable expectations.

These principles control and guide our courts and are set forth with their corresponding authority in the property owners' Argument. Neighbor Weinstein ignores Utah's adherence to consideration of the common good and would have the court apply the contextual extracts of law from the multiple cases he cites from foreign jurisdictions, such as New York, New Jersey, Texas, Colorado, Oklahoma and other states. Weinstein relies further on employing unsavory language in his challenge to the trial court's ruling; accusing the court of "arriving at the popular position," depicting him as a villain, focusing on the "abortive variance vote" of the Home Owners Association and overlooking the "false publicity" mis-characterizing him..

ARGUMENT

Where expressly stated, restrictive covenants are not favored in the law and are strictly construed in favor of the free and unrestricted use of property. Robbins v. Finaly, 645 P.2d 623, 627 (Utah 1982); Parrish v. Richards, 8 Utah 2d 419, 421, 336 P.2d 122, 123 (1959); Freeman v. Gee, 18 Utah 2d 339, 345, 423 P.2d 155, 159 (1967). Generally, express restrictive covenants are upheld only "where they are necessary for the protection of the business for the benefit of which the covenant was made and no greater restraint is imposed than is reasonably necessary to secure such protection. Allen v. Rose Park Pharmacy, 120 Utah 608, 614, 237 P.2d 823, 826 (1951).

Neighbor Weinstein uses language in his brief which suggests that he, himself, bargained with property owners Popiel to create the provisions of the CC&Rs. He suggests that he is being deprived of the benefit of the bargain, if he cannot now exercise his absolute unequivocal contract right to withhold his permission for the property owners to have their rather innocuous split rail fence in their back yard. [The fence is of the type which has three split log rails, each approximately 9' long; held up by vertical posts at each end.]

The trial court in the instant case did not abuse its discretion in finding that Weinstein unreasonably withheld his permission for the Popiels to build their fence. The Utah Supreme Court set forth controlling principles in Peirce v. Peirce, 2000 UT 7 (Utah 2000) when it stated that “we interpret the terms of a contract in light of the reasonable expectations of the parties, looking to the agreement as a whole and to the circumstances, nature and purpose of the contract.” See Utah State Med. Ass’n v. Utah State Employees Credit Union, 655 P.2d 643, 646 (Utah 1982); Nixon v. Nixon, Inc. v. John New & Assocs., Inc., 641 P. 2d 144, 146 (Utah 1982); adding that “where there is doubt about the interpretation of a contract, a fair and equitable result will be preferred over a harsh and unreasonable one. And an interpretation that will produce an inequitable result will be adopted only where the contract so expressly and unequivocally so provides that there is no other reasonable interpretation to be given it.”

BREACH OF IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING

It is well established and longstanding law in the State of Utah that every contract is subject to an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

“A covenant of good faith and fair dealing inheres in most, if not all, contractual relationships.” St. Benedict’s Dev. V. St. Benedict’s Hosp., 811 P.2d 194, 199-200 (Utah 1991).

The trial court did not interject an implied condition. “Every contract is subject to an implied covenant of good faith.” Iadanza v. Mather, 820 F. Supp. 1371 (10th Cir. 1993). Weinstein did not obtain a transcript of the Summary Judgment hearing for the record on appeal, as requested by Appellee’s motion, because it was in that hearing the argument was advanced with regard to the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. It was not interjected after the hearing and it cannot be so argued in the absence of any record.. Nor can there be any argument that there was no basis in fact for the trial court’s ruling, reviewing the court’s own findings of fact, which stand as written.

It is well established that an element of reasonableness must attach to the language of the CC&Rs.

“The purpose, intentions, and expectations of the parties should be determined by considering the contract language and the course of dealings and conduct of the parties.” Ibid. St. Benedicts 811 P.2d. 194, 199-200 (Utah 1991).

The CC&Rs provide that actions such as building a fence are to be evaluated, approved and overseen by the Homeowners Association (“HOA”). The property owners complied with this provision. The trial court found in its findings that “*the officers of the HOA indicated that they believed the approval requirement was a courtesy provision and not an absolute requirement.*” The HOA was convinced that the neighbor had no legitimate reason for withholding his approval, such as fence color or type and that the only reason for refusing to give permission was that he could no longer run his dog across their property (R-0231, 0246). The HOA believed that the purpose of an objection was to call to the committee’s attention a legitimate problem to be considered by them in granting an approval. Weinstein’s refusal to grant permission did not further the common good or purpose of the restrictive covenants.

The parties to a contract are deemed to intend that the terms of a contract should be construed in a manner which assumes the parties intended that the duties and rights created by the contract should be performed and exercised in good faith. This means that “one party may not render it difficult or impossible for the other to continue performance and then take advantage of the non-performance he has caused. Zion’s Properties, Inc. v. Holt, 538 P.2d 1319, 1321 (Utah 1975). See also Olympus Hills Shopping Ctr., Ltd. v. Smith’s Food and Drug Ctrs, Inc., 889 P.2d 445, 450 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

There is no case law known to the Appellees which grants one party an absolute and unreasonable right to exercise a discretionary withholding of approval over the other.

“To comply with his obligation to perform a contract in good faith, a party’s actions must be consistent with the agreed common purpose and the justified expectations of the other party.” St. Benedict’s Dev. Co. v. St. Benedict’s Hosp., 811 P.2d 194, 199-200 (Utah 1991)

“When a party has been granted discretion under a contract, that discretion may not be exercised capriciously or in bad faith.” Ibid., Olympus Hills, 889 P.2d 445, 456 (Utah App. 1994). The 10th Circuit Court of Appeals has observed that “the purpose of the good faith doctrine in contract law is to protect the reasonable expectations of the parties by ‘implying terms in the agreement.’” Big Horn Coal Co. v. Commonwealth Edison Co., 852 F.2d 1259, 1267 (10th Cir. 1988). Where an express term establishes a right or power to be exercised in the sole discretion of one party, in Utah that right or power must be exercised consistent with the covenant of good faith. A.I. Transp. v. Imperial Premium Fin., 862 F. Supp. 345 (10th Cir. 1988).

Neighbor Weinstein has adamantly announced even after-the-fact that “he wouldn’t have approved [the fence] if asked” (R-0224) and that he “won’t give permission because they never asked me” (R-0230). The Association believed that he would not give his permission was because he used to run his dog on their property (R-0231).

“An examination of express contract terms alone is insufficient to determine whether there has been a breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. To comply with his obligation to perform a contract in good faith, **a party’s actions must be consistent with the agreed common purpose and the justified expectations of the other party.** The purpose, intentions, and expectations of the parties should be determined by considering **the contract language and the course of dealings between and conduct of the parties.**”

Ibid., St Benedicts, 811 P.2d 194, 200 (Utah 1991) (emphasis added).

Thus it is the parties’ agreed common purpose and justified expectations that are critical in determining whether the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing has been breached. A party’s expectations can be justified only when grounded in the language of the contract, the course of dealing between the parties, and/or the parties’ conduct. In the instant case particularly, one must consider the role of the Homeowners Association, Architectural Committee and the Officers, who are called upon to determine the common purpose and good of the Association and its members.

“...courts endeavor to construe contracts so as not to grant one of the parties an absolute and arbitrary right....” Resource Management Co. v. Weston Ranch & Livestock Co., 706 P.2d 1028, 1037 (Utah 1985) See also Beck v. Farmer’s Ins. Exch., 701 P.2d 795, 797-98 (Utah 1985).

The neighbor makes the argument to the appellate court that this matter is similar to zoning violations and their interference with property rights. At the same time, and with a straight face, he is suggesting that he must be allowed to exercise his absolute discretionary right to withhold his permission in order “to protect the residential integrity of the neighborhood.” The comparison is rather empty.

ATTORNEYS FEES

Weinstein requested only that the trial court order that the fence be torn down and did not during litigation or subsequently suggest or introduce any evidence suggesting that he suffered damages (R-0121). The trial court awarded him only nominal damages of \$1.00. The trial court did not award attorneys fees or costs to either party. This determination is entirely within the discretion of the trial court and is solidly supported by law.

The trial court necessarily has broad discretion in determining the amount of a reasonable attorney fee and will not be reversed unless the court abuses its discretion. Dixie State Bank v. Bracken, 764 P.2d 985, 991 (Utah 1988). In the absence of abuse of discretion, the amount of the award by the district court will not be disturbed. 20 Am.Jur. 2d Costs, section 78 (1965).

Where nominal damages are allowed, one dollar is the amount generally awarded. Snyderville Transportation Co. v. Christiansen, 609 P.2d 939 (Utah 1980).

When both parties could be described as successful and unsuccessful, the net result of the litigation leaves no clear successful party to award fees to and no clear unsuccessful party to assess them against. It is proper, therefore, that each party bear its own attorneys fees and costs. See Fashion Place Assocs. v. Glad Rags, 754 P.2d 940 (Utah 1988).

This position is well founded at law. The 10th circuit has adopted the test set forth in Nadeau v. Helgemoe, 581 F.2d 275 (1st Cir 1978) for determining whether a plaintiff is prevailing. To meet that test, a plaintiff must show two things: (1) that the lawsuit is causally linked to securing the relief obtained, and (2) that the defendant's conduct in response to the lawsuit was required by law. See e.g. J&J Anderson, Inc. v. Town of Erie, 767 F.2d 1469, 1475 (10th Cir 1985). The U.S. District Court stated in David C. v. Leavitt, 900 F. Supp. 1547 (10th Cir. 1995) that this test can be characterized thusly: A party may be deemed to have prevailed sufficiently to warrant the award of attorneys' fees under a two part "catalyst test." Under this test a plaintiff must have been a "significant catalyst" causing a defendant to change position, and the defendant's change in position must have been required under law. This test was not satisfied in the instant case.

The United States Supreme Court set forth the most definitive standard in Farrar v. Hobby, 506 U.S. 103, 121 L. Ed. 2d 494, 113 S. Ct. 566, 572 (1992) justifying the trial court's denial of attorneys fees, by holding that where a plaintiff recovers only nominal damages, the only reasonable fee is usually no fee at all. The degree of a prevailing party's "overall success" determines the reasonableness of an award.

The trial court has followed the law in requiring each party to bear its own attorneys fees and costs.

FRIVOLOUS APPEAL

This appeal is frivolous and without merit. It has been undertaken without reasonable basis of prevailing. If Appellant had researched the law set forth by the Appellee in this brief before filing the appeal, it would have been apparent to him that there was no basis. The Popiels have been continuously forced to defend themselves from malicious prosecution in this matter against a vindictive and malevolent neighbor. They built a fence around their yard with the written authorization of their Homeowners Association after submitting a written request for approval. The neighbor refused to accept the Association's actions and made life unbearable for everyone by constant complaining and threatening. The property owners then cooperated with legal counsel for the Association when complaining did not let up by obtaining signatures from all their neighbors and going through a formal variance procedure to obtain the unanimous approval of all homeowners in a formal vote to authorize the fence to remain. Appellant Weinstein refused to accept the will, not only of the board and the officers of the Association, but of all of the homeowners. The property owners were forced to defend themselves in court when the neighbor sued them to have the fence torn down. They prevailed and the trial court allowed the fence to remain. Appellant has again refused to accept even the District Court's ruling and has filed this appeal.

The appeal is frivolous and intended to do nothing more than harass the property owners. The Appellees seek and are entitled to their attorneys fees and costs incurred to defend against this appeal pursuant to Rule 33(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

CONCLUSION

Appellant Weinstein has failed to show that “there is no reasonable basis” for the trial court’s ruling. The “abuse of discretion” standard requires such a showing. The appeal centers upon the application of the covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing, which Weinstein does not believe should be applied to his situation. If, however, he had researched the applicable case law, it would have been readily apparent that there are no grounds for the appeal.